
CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

Planning Commission and Staff Seating 

  

MIKE STRONG 
Assistant Planning Director 

OWEN TUNNELL 
Assistant City Engineer 

STAN WEILER 
Commissioner 

MICHAEL COHEN 
Commissioner 

DON ROMO 
Vice-Chair 

JAMES SPANN 
Chairman 

JAMES MCNAIR 
Commissioner 

JOE GARCIA 
Commissioner 

MARK WATSON 
Commissioner 

ADAM PHILLIPS 
Senior Deputy City Attorney 

KIRSTEN PERIANO 
Minutes Clerk 

AGENDA 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

201 North Broadway 

City Hall Council Chambers 
 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

February 12, 2019 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER: 7:00 p.m. 
 
B. FLAG SALUTE 
 
C. ROLL CALL:  
 
D. MINUTES: 11/27/18 
 ___________________________________________________________________________________  

 
 The Brown Act provides an opportunity for members of the public to directly address the Planning Commission on any item of interest 

to the public before or during the Planning Commission's consideration of the item.  If you wish to speak regarding an agenda item, 
please fill out a speaker's slip and give it to the minutes clerk who will forward it to the chairman. 

 
Electronic Media:  Electronic media which members of the public wish to be used during any public comment period should be 
submitted to the Planning Division at least 24 hours prior to the meeting at which it is to be shown. 
 
The electronic media will be subject to a virus scan and must be compatible with the City’s existing system.  The media must be 
labeled with the name of the speaker, the comment period during which the media is to be played and contact information for the 
person presenting the media. 
 
The time necessary to present any electronic media is considered part of the maximum time limit provided to speakers.  City staff will 
queue the electronic information when the public member is called upon to speak.  Materials shown to the Commission during the 
meeting are part of the public record and may be retained by the City. 
 
The City of Escondido is not responsible for the content of any material presented, and the presentation and content of electronic 
media shall be subject to the same responsibilities regarding decorum and presentation as are applicable to live presentations. 

 
 If you wish to speak concerning an item not on the agenda, you may do so under "Oral Communications" which is listed at the 

beginning and end of the agenda.  All persons addressing the Planning Commission are asked to state their names for the public 
record. 
 
Availability of supplemental materials after agenda posting:  any supplemental writings or documents provided to the Planning 
Commission regarding any item on this agenda will be made available for public inspection in the Planning Division located at 201 N. 
Broadway during normal business hours, or in the Council Chambers while the meeting is in session. 

 
 The City of Escondido recognizes its obligation to provide equal access to public services for individuals with disabilities.  Please 

contact the A.D.A. Coordinator, (760) 839-4643 with any requests for reasonable accommodation at least 24 hours prior to the 
meeting. 

 ___________________________________________________________________________________  
The Planning Division is the coordinating division for the Planning Commission. 

For information, call (760) 839-4671.



Planning Commission Agenda 
February 12, 2019 
Page 2 

 
 
 
 
E. WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
 "Under State law, all items under Written Communications can have no action, and will be referred to 

the staff for administrative action or scheduled on a subsequent agenda." 
 
1. Future Neighborhood Meetings 
 
 
F. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
 "Under State law, all items under Oral Communications can have no action, and may be referred to 

the staff for administrative action or scheduled on a subsequent agenda." 
 
 This is the opportunity for members of the public to address the Commission on any item of business 

within the jurisdiction of the Commission. 
 
 
G. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

 Please try to limit your testimony to 3 minutes. 
 

 
1. MODIFICATION TO A MASTER DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND NEW PRECISE DEVELOPMENT 

PLAN – PHG 18-0026: 
 

REQUEST: A modification to a previously approved Master Development Plan and new Precise 
Development Plan for Lexus Escondido.  The Project proposal includes the following actions: 
 

 Increase the boundaries of the existing Master Development Plan to include 1539 Tanglewood 
Lane, 0.50 acres, and 1551 Tanglewood Lane, 0.34 acres (0.84 acres total); 

 Demolish two (2) existing residences on adjacent lots (1539 and 1551 Tanglewood Lane); 

 Add an inventory parking lot on adjacent lots to accommodate up to 140 vehicles; and 

 The proposal also includes the adoption of the environmental determination prepared for the 
project. 

 

PROPERTY SIZE AND LOCATION:  The 0.84-acre property, comprising of two (2) adjacent parcels, 
is generally located at the bend of Tanglewood Lane, just south of S. Auto Park Way and west of 
Interstate-15, addressed as 1539 and 1551 Tanglewood Lane (APNs: 235-090-12-00 and 235-090-
13-00). 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL STATUS: The Project is exempt from the provisions of CEQA, pursuant to 
Categorical Exemption 15311, Accessory Structures.  Section 15311/Class 11 consists of 
construction, or placement of minor structures accessory to (appurtenant to) existing commercial, 
industrial, or institutional facilities, including but not limited to small parking lots. 

 
 APPLICANT:  Rich Garcia – Martin & Paige Architecture, Inc. 
 
 STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approval 
 
 COMMISSION ACTION:   
 
 PROJECTED COUNCIL HEARING DATE:   
 



Planning Commission Agenda 
February 12, 2019 

Page 3 

  

 
 
 
 
2. MASTER AND PRECISE DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND GRADING EXEMPTION – PHG 17-0019: 

 
REQUEST: The proposal is a request for a Master and Precise Development Plan for the 
development of a 15-unit rental apartment building.  The building would include three levels of 
residential units, as well as a basement storage room containing a bicycle rack and individual tenant 
lockers (minimum 80 cubic feet per tenant).  Twenty-six off-street parking spaces (15 covered and 11 
uncovered) would be provided.  Open space would include one private balcony per unit, as well as 
landscaped areas around the building.  A Grading Exemption is also proposed for the construction of 
a fill-slope and retaining wall exceeding 10’ within 50’ of the northerly and easterly property lines 
(proposed wall height up to 22.5 feet); the wall would include planter blocks to allow for concealment 
with vines and/or other vegetation.  The proposal also includes the adoption of the environmental 
determination prepared for the project.  
 
PROPERTY SIZE AND LOCATION:  The 0.51-acre project site is located on the north side of East 
Grand Avenue, and is addressed as 1316 East Grand Avenue (APN 230-230-1400).  The closest 
cross street is East Ohio Avenue, located approximately 260 feet to the west of the project site.   
 
ENVIRONMENTAL STATUS:  The project is exempt from environmental review in conformance with 
the California Environmental Quality Act’s section 15332, “Infill Development Projects”. 

 
 APPLICANT:  Nathan Houck 
 
 STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approval 
 
 COMMISSION ACTION:   
 
 PROJECTED COUNCIL HEARING DATE:   
 

 
 

3. ZONING CODE AMENDMENT – AZ 19-0001: 
 
REQUEST: A proposed amendment to Article 34 (Communication Antennas Ordinance) of the 
Escondido Zoning Code to update the requirements for wireless communication facilities within the 
right-of-way.  The amendment includes an update to the entitlement process to streamline deployment 
of 5G networks and simplified language to be consistent with Federal Communications Commission 
Order.  The proposal also includes new guidelines for wireless communications facilities in the right-
of-way, as well as the environmental determination prepared for the project.  No development project 
is proposed. 
 
PROPERTY SIZE AND LOCATION:  Citywide 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL STATUS:  Exemption under the General Rule, CEQA Section 15061(b)(3). 

 
 APPLICANT:  City of Escondido 
 
 STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approval 
 
 COMMISSION ACTION:   

 
 PROJECTED COUNCIL HEARING DATE:   

  



Planning Commission Agenda 
February 12, 2019 
Page 4 

 
 
 
 

H. CURRENT BUSINESS: 
 
 Note:  Current Business items are those which under state law and local ordinances do not require 

either public notice or public hearings. Public comments will be limited to a maximum time of three 
minutes per person. 

 
 
I. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
 "Under State law, all items under Oral Communications can have no action and may be referred to 

staff for administrative action or scheduled on a subsequent agenda." 
 
 This is the opportunity for members of the public to address the Commission on any item of business 

within the jurisdiction of the Commission. 
 
 
J. PLANNING COMMISSIONERS 
 
 
K. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 



  Agenda Item No.: D 

Page 1 of 3 

 

CITY OF ESCONDIDO 
 
 

ACTION MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
ESCONDIDO PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

November 27, 2018 
 

The meeting of the Escondido Planning Commission was called to order at 
7:00 p.m. by Chairman Spann, in the City Council Chambers, 201 North Broadway, 
Escondido, California.  
  

Commissioners present: James Spann, Chairman; Don Romo, Vice-chairman; 
Michael Cohen, Commissioner; Joe Garcia, Commissioner; James McNair, 
Commissioner; Mark Watson, Commissioner; and Stan Weiler, Commissioner.  
  

Commissioners absent:  None. 
 

Staff present:  Bill Martin, Director of Community Development; Mike Strong, 
Assistant Planning Director; Owen Tunnell, Principal Engineer; Mike McGuinness, 
City Attorney; Kirsten Peraino, Minutes Clerk; and Jay Paul, Senior Planner.  
 

MINUTES:  

 
Moved by Commissioner Weiler, seconded by Commissioner Watson, to approve 
the Action Minutes of the October 23, 2018, meeting. (6-1) Commissioner Cohen 
abstained due to absence from previous meeting. 
 

WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS: – Received.   

 
FUTURE NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS: – None. 

 
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS: – None. 

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

 

 

 

 



 

 Page 2 of 3  

 

1. MODIFICATION TO A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT – PHG 17-0002: 
 
REQUEST:  A Modification to a previously approved Conditional Use Permit for 
California Metals Service (CMS) to expand their metals processing facility and 
operations onto an adjacent industrial property.  The use also includes California 
Redemption Value (CRV) recycling services to the public. The proposal includes 
the construction of a new, 7,000 SF metal building for processing and storage of 
materials; outdoor acculoader system for loading materials into trucks; various 
outdoor storage areas; additional parking; above-ground propane tank; 1,000 
gallon above-ground outdoor diesel fuel tank; storm water improvements and 
treatment system; and additional landscape screening along the Highway 78 
frontage.  Secondary truck access to Mission Road would be provided through an 
adjacent parcel owned by the applicant. The proposal also includes the adoption 
of the environmental determination prepared for the project. 
  
PROPERTY SIZE AND LOCATION:  The approximately 1.8-acre site is comprised 
of two parcels and is located on the northern side of W. Mission, addressed as 
1428 W. Mission Road (APNS 228-290-43 and 228-290-41). 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL STATUS:  Categorical Exemption pursuant to California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Section 15301 “Existing Facilities.” 

 
 STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approval. 
 

PUBLIC SPEAKERS:  None.   

 
COMMISSIONER DISCUSSION AND QUESTIONS. 

 

COMMISSION ACTION:  Approved (7-0-0) with the additional condition that the 
applicant shall submit a Precise Development Plan for the site improvements to 
the Engineering Division within 90 days of this approval. 

 
 

CURRENT BUSINESS:  

 

1. CLIMATE ACTION PLAN STATUS UPDATE (PHG 18-0009): 
 
Report provided. 
 

PUBLIC SPEAKERS:  Patricia B and Laura Hunter spoke in favor of the Climate 

Action Plan. 



 

 Page 3 of 3  

 

 

COMMISSION ACTION:  Report Received; No action taken. 

 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS:  None.  

 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 
Chair Spann adjourned the meeting at 8:38 p.m.  The Planning Commission 
meeting scheduled for December 11, 2018 has been cancelled.  The next regularly 
scheduled Planning Commission meeting will be held at 7:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 
January 8, 2019 in the City Council Chambers, 201 North Broadway Escondido, 
California.  
 
 
 

_______________________________  ___________________________ 
Mike Strong, Secretary to the Planning   Kirsten Peraino, Minutes Clerk 
Commission 



 

 
 
Agenda Item No.: G.1 
Date:  February 12, 2019 

 
 
 

 

PROJECT NUMBER / NAME:  PHG 18-0026 / Lexus Escondido 

 

REQUEST:  A modification to a previously approved Master Development Plan and new Precise 

Development Plan for Lexus Escondido to demolish two (2) residences and construct a new 

inventory parking lot for the adjacent Lexus car dealership.  The proposal also includes the 

adoption of the environmental determination prepared for the project. 

 

 

LOCATION: 1539 and 1551 Tanglewood 

Lane; and 1205 Auto Park Way 

 

APN / APNS:  235-090-12-00 and 13-00 

 

GENERAL PLAN / ZONING:  PC/PD-C 

 

 

APPLICANT:  Judith Jones-Cone, Lexus 

 

PRIMARY  

REPRESENTATIVE:  Rich Garcia 

 

 

DISCRETIONARY ACTIONS REQUESTED:  Modification to a Master Development Plan and 

new Precise Development Plan 

 

PREVIOUS ACTIONS:          Planning Case Nos. 2006-10-PD and PHG 12-0001 

 

PROJECT PLANNER:          Mike Strong, Assistant Planning Director 

mstrong@escondidio.org 

 

CEQA RECOMMENDATION:  Exempt (CEQA Guidelines Section 15311 “Small Parking Lots”) 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Provide a recommendation to City Council to approve the Project 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  Approve Planning Commission Resolution No. 2019-01 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL HEARING REQUIRED:   ☒ YES     ☐ NO 

 

REPORT APPROVALS:                            ☒ Bill Martin, Community Development Director 

☐ Mike Strong, Assistant Planning Director 

  



PHG 18-0026 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

 
 

 
A. BACKGROUND: 

 

In 2006, the City Council approved a Master Plan Development application for Lexus Escondido 

at 1205 Auto Park Way (Planning Case No. 2006-10-PD).  The Lexus dealership was proposed 

and approved to offer amenities beyond the sale of vehicles, auto service, and the sale of parts 

and accessories; the approval included a restaurant on the third floor, a conference center on the 

second floor, food and beverage center and retail boutique space on the first floor, a monument 

sign with an electronic message board, and a digital media screen.  At the time the 2006 

application was processed and approved, the roof decks were designated as “garden patios” with 

no planned use of the space.  In 2013, the City Council approved a modification to the Master 

Development Plan (Planning Case No. PHG 12-0001) to allow outdoor events with amplified 

music on the third floor roof decks.  Today, the full-service Lexus dealership includes a 326,000 

square-foot facility with 20,000 square feet of event space and outdoor fire pits that can be used 

for concerts, weddings, banquets, etc.   

 

Over the past couple of years, Lexus Escondido has actively been working to facilitate expanding 

the existing inventory of its dealership, and through this application, is seeking to obtain a 

modification to the original Master Development Plan to expand the boundary of Lexus Escondido 

to construct a new inventory parking lot.   

 

It is important to note that Planning Case Nos. 2006-10-PD and PHG 12-0001 were both 

separately processed through a business enhancement zone incentive program which made the 

permit requests eligible for processing directly to the City Council and exempt from review by any 

other entity including, the Planning Commission.  This is the first time a permit request for Lexus 

Escondido has been presented to the Planning Commission for review and consideration.  

Although the Planning Commission may broadly consider previous permit condition compliance 

through their deliberations at their meeting on February 12, 2019, the Planning Commission’s 

review and consideration of the permit request should be generally limited to the scope of the 

permit application as detailed herein. 

 
 
B. PROJECT ANALYSIS: 

 

1. General Plan / Zoning 

 

In consideration of the proposed use, future land use compatibility is primarily based on 

information from General Plans and other regional and local planning documents.  These 

documents were examined to assess the project’s potential consistency.  The General Plan land-

use designation for the site is Planned Commercial (PC), which provides for a variety of 

commercial activities within a self-contained, comprehensively planned development.  It is also 

included within the Promenade Retail Center and Vicinity Target Area (p. II-74 of the Land Use 

Portion of the General Plan).  The Target Area generally includes the southwestern quadrant of 

I-15/W. Valley Parkway encompassing the large shopping center and the middle school property, 



PHG 18-0026 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

 
 

which is also designated as Planned Commercial for future commercial development.  The 

existing use of 1539 Tanglewood Lane and 1551 Tanglewood Lane as single-family residences 

are non-conforming to the current land use designation.    

 

Auto dealerships are largely reliant on inventory to support sales and require the space necessary 

to store vehicles.  Site constraints can impact the ability to increase sales.  Furthermore, damage 

to inventory can happen because vehicles need to be moved multiple times by employees to 

retrieve vehicles in over-stacked areas.  The existing Lexus Escondido 7.90-acre site is inventory 

constrained.  The addition of 1539 and 1551 Tanglewood Lane offers space for an additional 140 

vehicles.  This provides opportunities for more efficient spatial management with far less chances 

of damage occurring to inventory.  The proposed project would be consistent with the Target Area 

Guiding Principles, as well as other economic-premised policies of the General Plan, in that the 

project can help draw in more consumers, grow revenues, and improve overall economics.   

 

2. Site Modifications and Site Standards 

 

The permit request consists of a modification to a previously approved Master Development Plan 

and new Precise Development Plan for Lexus Escondido.  The Project proposal includes the 

following actions: 

 Increase the boundaries of the existing Master Development Plan to include 1539 

Tanglewood Lane, 0.50 acres, and 1551 Tanglewood Lane, 0.34 acres (0.84 acres total 

added); 

 Demolish two (2) existing residences on adjacent lots (1539 and 1551 Tanglewood Lane); 

 Add an inventory parking lot on adjacent lots to accommodate up to 140 vehicles; and 

 The proposal also includes the adoption of the environmental determination prepared for 

the project. 

 
Storage space for inventory parking is proposed to be located within two (2) feet from front 

property line and just over six (6) feet from the southerly property line.  The drive aisle ramp is 

proposed on the north property line and a bio retention system is predominately proposed along 

the west property line.  Pursuant to Table 33-335 of Article 16 (Commercial Zones Ordinance), 

required yards shall not be used for vehicle parking.  In general, there are no required front, side, 

or rear yard setbacks in commercial zones (CG Zone) unless the yard of a property is adjacent 

or abutting the yard of a residentially zoned property.  All adjacent and abutting properties are 

zoned for planned commercial development.  Therefore, in consideration of the basic commercial 

zoning code requirements, the location of car inventory storage may locate anywhere on 1531 

and 1551 Tanglewood Lane.   

 

In accordance with Section 33-780 of Article 39 (Off-Street Parking Ordinance), every parking 

area abutting residentially zoned property shall provide a solid wall, view-obscuring fence or 

compact evergreen hedge six (6) feet in height, provided that along the street side said wall, fence 

or hedge shall not exceed thirty-six (36) inches in height.  The application request includes an 

exception to this standard to build a six (6) foot wall along Tanglewood Lane to ensure that 



PHG 18-0026 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

 
 

proposed use is well-screened and the application supports land use compatibility.  Pursuant to 

Section 33-401 of Article 19 (Planned Development Ordinance), exceptions to standards of the 

Zoning Code shall be granted by the Planning Commission and City Council where a finding can 

be made that such exception encourages a more desirable environment and are warranted in 

order to foster the establishment of a comprehensively planned and designed development.  After 

project implementation, most of the car storage would not be visible from surrounding properties.  

The street side elevation is approximately 697 to 699 feet above mean sea level.  The finished 

grade of the lot would be approximately 681 to 687 feet above mean sea level.  The lower profile 

and proposed location would reduce the visibility of the car storage on the inventory lot.  A line-

of-sight analysis (provided on sheet A3.1P in the site plan) demonstrates that car inventory 

storage would be more completely screened by the proposed six (6) foot wall.  New berm 

landscaping would help screen the wall from street view.   

 

The proposed use facilitates converting functioning residential uses to a commercial use of 

property.  Therefore, the development of “commercial land” abuts residential property (either built 

or zoned).  It is important to note that the presence of adjacent and nearby residential uses was 

factored into the design of the project and appropriate transitional methods have been 

incorporated, as follows: 

 

 Site Orientation: The site design is oriented toward the Lexus dealership at 1205 Auto 

Park Way.  Parking, pedestrian access, and dealership entrances should be oriented away 

from the residences (back-to-back relationship).   

 Buffer: The street (Tanglewood Lane) is used as a boundary between commercial and 

residential land uses.  

 Topography: The project uses existing topography to naturally separate commercial and 

residential areas.  Additionally, a lower finished grade is utilized to enhance compatibility 

with surrounding development, especially adjacent residential neighborhoods. 

 Fencing/Landscaping: Screened landscaped areas naturally separate commercial and 

residential areas (a combination of landscaping, berming, and wall/fencing is necessary).  

The use of high quality materials in the construction of fencing and landscaping, which are 

featured on property lines adjacent to the residential properties on the north and south, as 

well as along Tanglewood Lane, would decrease long-term maintenance costs and 

decrease the likelihood that neglected, unsightly areas would occur. 

 Lighting: Lighting used to illuminate an off-street parking areas are arranged so as to 

deflect light away from any adjoining property or from public streets through fixture type, 

height and location. Exterior lighting is limited to low profile and low level to ensure that 

any such light source would not glare upon adjacent property or public streets. 

 
3. Site Operations  

 

As indicated by the applicant, Lexus vehicles would continue to be dropped off on the 1205 Auto 

Park Way property.  After completing a pre-deliver inspection in the shop at 1205 Auto Park Way, 

some vehicles would be driving to the proposed parking lot (1539 and 1551 Tanglewood Lane) 



PHG 18-0026 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

 
 

by driving on Tanglewood Lane.  The new parking lot can accommodate up to 140 vehicles.  

These vehicles would be duplicate new car vehicles of cars already stored on the 1205 Auto Park 

Way property.  Should a vehicle need retrieval, a lot attendant would access the lot via a 

pedestrian stairway from the 1205 Auto Park Way site and then drive the vehicle on Tanglewood 

Lane to the dealership.  Approximately ten (10) cars or less are expected to be driving on 

Tanglewood, subsequent to initial import.  There is currently a lot attendant team of six (6) 

employees and there are three (3) to four (4) on shift at any given time.  The sales department 

hours of operation are Mon-Fri: 8 a.m. to 9 p.m., Sat: 8 a.m. to 6 p.m., and Sun: 10 a.m. to 6 p.m.  

The 1539 and 1551 Tanglewood Lane inventory lot would be secured with an automatic gate and 

the applicant intends on installing security cameras on the site that are tied into the larger 

dealership surveillance system at the 1205 Auto Park Way site.  Additionally, a third party security 

team would patrol and monitor the Tanglewood Lane properties.    

 

In general, homes are more sensitive to changes that may result in increased noise, vibrations, 

or increased levels of traffic congestion.  Non-residential uses are typically less sensitive to these 

types of changes because they interfere less with normal commercial, office, or industrial 

activities.  The project would not result in or generate any adverse noise, dust, odor or traffic 

impacts.  Except as expressly amended hereby this permit request (as recommended for adoption 

by City Council), all previous conditions and performance standards applicable to Planning Case 

Nos. 2006-10-PD and PHG 12-0001 shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with the 

provisions thereof on the date adopted by Resolution No. 2006-269-R and Ordinance Nos.   

2013-05, unless otherwise approved through permit modification.  The foregoing site operations 

applicable to 1539 and 1551 Tanglewood Lane would be limited to the scope of the details of the 

request and/or as conditioned. 

 
4. Supplemental Details of Request 

 
1. Property Size: 1539 Tanglewood Lane, 0.50 acres; and 1551 Tanglewood Lane, 

0.34 acres (0.84 acres total).  Lexus Escondido also owns another 

adjacent 7.90-acre. 

 

2. Existing Buildings: A. 1539 Tanglewood Lane residence to be removed.   

  B. 1551 Tanglewood Lane residence to be removed. 

 

  The subject residences are not listed on the Escondido historic sites 

survey or local register listing and not eligible for historic resource 

designation. 

   

3. Proposed Buildings: None.  Improvements to consist of surface parking with associated 

landscaping and screen walls. 

 

4. Other Proposed: 140 non-striped parking spaces, conditioned to ensure adequate fire 

      Modifications  access; 



PHG 18-0026 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

 
 

  Six (6) foot split face CMU pilaster and vinyl fencing on adjacent 

residential property lines; 

  Six (6) foot high decorative split face CMU wall on street side; 

   Landscaping screen hedge (Tanglewood Lane street section); 

   Six (6) foot to twelve (12) foot inward facing retaining wall with fall 

arrest netting; 

   New storm water infrastructure (bioretention); and 

  New landscape planters along perimeter. 

 

5. Parking: 140 non-striped parking spaces to be provided. 

         

6. Number of Employees: Up to three (3) or four (4) parking attendants on-site, fluctuating on 

the time of day.  

 

7. Number of Vehicles: Up to 140 duplicate, new vehicles. 

 

8. Hours of Operation: Hours would fluctuate based on need and demand of the sales 

department.  However, the sales department hours of operation are 

Mon-Fri: 8 a.m. to 9 p.m., Sat: 8 a.m. to 6 p.m., and Sun: 10 a.m. to 

6 p.m.  The 1539 and 1551 Tangelwood Lane inventory lot is not open 

to the public.  

   

9. Fencing/Screening: A six (6) foot split face CMU pilaster and vinyl fencing on north and 

south property lines and a six (6) foot high decorative split face CMU 

wall on street side.  The street side would be screened with 

landscaping as shown on the plans.  

 

10. Signage: No signage proposed. 

 

11. Master Development The application requires accommodation of a wall height exception 

Plan Modifications  from thirty-six (36) inches to six (6) feet along the street side                             

                                    (Tanglewood Lane). 

 
 

C. ENVIRONMENTAL STATUS: 

 

The proposed project is categorically exempt from environmental review in conformance with 

CEQA Sections 15311, “Accessory Structures.”  Section 15311/Class 11 consists of construction, 

or placement of minor structures accessory to (appurtenant to) existing commercial, industrial, or 

institutional facilities, including but not limited to small parking lots.  The Secretary of the California 

Resources Agency has determined that the projects in these classes do not have significant effect 

on the environment, and therefore are categorically exempt from CEQA. 

 



PHG 18-0026 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

 
 

D. AREAS OF CONTROVERSY 

 

City staff recently received two (2) complaints regarding the regular use of outdoor space at the 

Centre (i.e. outdoor events with amplified music on the third floor roof decks at 1205 Autopark 

Way).  The correspondence is provided as Attachment 2 and identifies a history of noise related 

impacts to surrounding residential properties.  The Centre has historically hosted special events 

with music during the summer, with other catered event use throughout the year.  Although the 

complaint is not directly related to the scope of the details of the permit request to construct a new 

inventory parking lot, it is associated with the Lexus dealership property and previous permit 

approvals (PHG 12-0001).   

 

Planning Case No. PHG 12-0001 was approved by City Council in 2013 to allow outdoor events 

with amplified music.  A Mitigated Negative Declaration was prepared to analyze the potential 

noise-related impacts of the project, among other environmental considerations, that were 

considered prior to project approval.  Pursuant to CEQA, there is a requirement that a public 

agency, in approving feasible mitigation measures contained in Mitigated Negative Declarations, 

must also adopt a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP).  Such a program is to 

be designed to ensure compliance with the changes to a project which were required by the City 

in order to reduce or avoid significant environmental effects of the outdoor events with amplified 

music.  In accordance with the adopted MMRP, the Centre’s property manager must prepare and 

implement a Noise Compliance Plan to address the responsibility for monitoring compliance with 

the established noise levels at property line, including but not limited to monitoring noise and 

sounds levels along the property lines during events.  Furthermore, an annual noise compliance 

report shall also be filed.  Through these documents, the objective was to have the City continue 

to work with the General Manager at the Centre to improve neighborhood livability by enforcing 

the City's noise regulations and ensuring events and activities do not cause more noise 

than normally allowed.  A set forth in the MMRP and conditions of approval, this issue will continue 

to be addressed through condition satisfaction review and evidence of compliance.  For each 

project for which a MMRP is required and adopted, full compliance with the adopted program for 

the project shall be a condition of approval of the project.   

 

The Planning Division of the City of Escondido first learned about noise-related impacts from 

special event use in 2015, when a group of residents began contacting the Police Department 

and Code Enforcement Division about how they were impacted by noise during special events.  

To date, the Centre has been responsive to complaints.  The City has worked with the Centre to 

conduct research, hold meetings, interact with residents and the General Manager at the Centre 

and investigated complaints.  At most times, there appears to be noise-level compliance.  In 

consideration of the most recent correspondence, and to be fully responsive to inquiries and 

complaints from the citizens, the Planning Division shall verify that the project is in compliance 

with the adopted program and ask the General Manager to re-evaluate the content of the Noise 

Compliance Plan to make sure that noise meters are in a reasonable position to register sound 

propagation and to ensure that a noise hotline is full-serviced.  All efforts will be made by the City 



PHG 18-0026 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

 
 

to resolve disputed issues in the field and/or carry out or seek other remedies as permitted by 

law.   

 

E. CONCLUSIONS: 

 

The Planning Commission has the authority to approve changes to a previously approved Master 

Development Plan at a public hearing when the changes do not affect the boundaries of the 

subject zone and the changes do not change uses of land.  Proposed modifications that exceed 

these limitations shall be considered pursuant to Section 33-408 of Article 19 of the Escondido 

Zoning Code (Planned Development Ordinance), which requires a Planning Commission 

recommendation to City Council.  The Planning Commission is being asked to consider a 

modification to a previously approved Master Development Plan and approval of a new Precise 

Development Plan for Lexus Escondido to add a new inventory lot to the existing dealership.  No 

other discretionary permits are requested or required for the proposed scope of work. 

 

The proposed project is consistent with the General Plan and the project meets all nearly all the 

applicable zoning standards.  The proposed wall on the street side (Tangelwood Lane) shall be 

governed by site-specific standards for the reasons stated herein this February 12, 2019 Staff 

Report. The project as proposed would not have a significant effect on the environment, as 

designed and conditioned.  Auto dealerships are generally reliant on inventory space to support 

sales and require the space necessary to store vehicles.   Adding car-storage can help the dealer 

increase sales and service a larger customer base, thus supporting local business grow revenues.  

The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the proposed inventory lot is adjacent 

to two (2) homes that are zoned PD-C; however, the site is suitable for the type and intensity of 

use or development which is proposed because the action to approve the permit would bring the 

subject site into conformance with the commercial land use designation of the property.  

Notwithstanding, most of the car storage would not be visible from surrounding properties.  The 

lower profile and proposed location would reduce the visibility of the inventory lot.  In addition to 

the lower pad elevation, new walls and landscaping would screen car inventory storage, as well 

as existing off-site berm and trees.  Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve 

Planning Case No. PHG 18-0026 based upon the factors/findings and conditions contained in the 

attached Planning Commission Resolution No. 2019-01 (Attachment 3). 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 

1. Location and General Plan Map 
2. Public Correspondences 
3. Draft Planning Commission Resolution No. 2019-01 

































































 

 

 

 
 
Agenda Item No.: G.2 
Date:  February 12, 2019 

 
 
 

 

PROJECT NUMBER / NAME:  PHG 17-0019 / Grand Avenue Apartments 

 

REQUEST:  A Master and Precise Development Plan for a 15-unit rental apartment building, as 

well as a Grading Exemption for a fill slope and retaining wall exceeding 10’ within 50’ of the 

northerly and easterly property lines. The proposal also includes the adoption of the 

environmental determination prepared for the project. 

 

 

LOCATION: 1316 E. Grand Avenue 

 

APN / APNS:  230-230-14 

 

GENERAL PLAN / ZONING:  GC / CG 

 

 

APPLICANT:  Nathan Houck, Sillman 

Wright Architects 

 

PRIMARY  

REPRESENTATIVE:  Mike LaCaze, 

LaCaze Development Company 

 

 

DISCRETIONARY ACTIONS REQUESTED:  Master and Precise Development Plan and 

Grading Exemption 

 

PREVIOUS ACTIONS:  None 

 

PROJECT PLANNER:          Ann Dolmage, Associate Planner  

adolmage@escondido.org 

 

CEQA RECOMMENDATION:  Exempt (CEQA Guidelines Section 15332, “In-Fill Development 

Projects”) 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Provide a recommendation to City Council to approve the project 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  Approve Planning Commission Resolution No. 2019-03 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL HEARING REQUIRED:   ☒ YES     ☐ NO 

 

REPORT APPROVALS:                            ☒ Bill Martin, Community Development Director 

                                                                    ☒ Mike Strong, Assistant Planning Director 



PHG 17-0019 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

 

-2- 

 
 

 

BACKGROUND: 
 

The project site is addressed as 1316 East Grand Avenue.  It is approximately 0.51 acre in size 

and is situated on the north side of East Grand Avenue, approximately 260 feet east of East Ohio 

Avenue.  The project site is significantly higher in elevation (approximately 40 feet higher) than 

properties to the direct east and north.  The site is currently undeveloped.  Development on 

surrounding properties primarily consists of multi-family and commercial uses, though the 

property to the immediate west (addressed as 1314 E. Grand Avenue) is occupied by a single-

family residence.   

 

Both 1314 and 1316 East Grand were originally intended to be part of the Walmart development 

at 1330 East Grand, first approved under 2003-18-CUP/GE (a Conditional Use Permit for outdoor 

retail display associated with the store, plus a Grading Exemption).  The original design for 2003-

18-CUP/GE would have placed Walmart close to the intersection of Harding Street and Grand 

Avenue, with the bulk of its parking on the north side of the store, and a smaller parking lot on the 

west side.  This design would have required significant cuts into 1314 and 1316 East Grand, to 

lower their elevations and incorporate them into Walmart’s building pads.  The outdoor retail 

display component of Walmart was later eliminated from the project, and the Conditional Use 

Permit and Grading Exemption were replaced with a Plot Plan (ADM 09-0062), which moved the 

store to the north side of its property and shifted parking to the south, adjacent to Grand Avenue.  

This new design eliminated any grading at 1314 and 1316 East Grand, and the single-family 

residence at 1314 remained in place, while 1316 remained undeveloped. 

 
A. PROJECT ANALYSIS: 

 

1. General Plan / Zoning 

 

The General Plan land use designation and zoning classification for the subject property are both 

General Commercial (CG for zoning and GC for the General Plan).  The site also is located within 

the East Valley Parkway Target Area of the General Plan, and is covered under the East Valley 

Parkway Area Plan.  The East Valley Parkway Area Plan allows multi-family residential projects 

on CG-zoned properties with approval of a Planned Development, when they are part of a mixed-

use project.  Furthermore, the entire western half of the East Valley Parkway Target Area falls 

within a Mixed-Use Overlay District, as depicted in Figure II-27 of the General Plan.  As described 

in Figure II-6 of the General Plan, this overlay allows for “mixed-use developments with combined 

exclusively residential and non-residential buildings”, provided that the density of the residential 

component is at least 30 units/acre and no more than 80 units/acre.  Because the property to the 

direct east of the project site is occupied by a retail store (Walmart), the project proposes to 

combine the new apartment complex with this existing commercial use into one horizontal mixed-

use project.  The density of this residential project is 29.4 units/acre (15 units on a 0.51-acre 

parcel).  While this falls just under the minimum required density of 30 units/acre, the addition of 

even one more unit to the project would further hinder its ability to provide sufficient parking and 



PHG 17-0019 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

 

-3- 

 
 

 

open space for the use (parking and open space issues are further discussed in my detail, later 

in this report).   

 

General Plan Land Use and Community Form Policies 7.1 through 7.4 provide guidance for mixed 

use overlay districts.  As directed by these policies, the proposed project would introduce a new 

housing opportunity to an environment that offers pedestrian access to retail, office, and service 

uses, giving residents the opportunity to conduct routine errands within their own neighborhood.  

Bus lines exist along Grand Avenue, providing connectivity to downtown and the Escondido 

Transit Center.  All utilities required by the project currently exist at the site or can be installed, as 

shown on the site plan provided by the applicant.  The project would incorporate an attractive and 

modern architectural design, with a neutral color palette to coordinate with the surrounding area. 

 

2. Site Modifications and Site Standards 

 

The proposed project would construct a new apartment building, approximately 18,678 square 

feet in total size.  The building would contain three (3) floors of rental apartment units.  Each floor 

would utilize the same floorplan, with a one-bedroom unit (700 square feet) at the west end of the 

building, a three-bedroom unit (1,150 square feet) at the east end, and three two-bedroom units 

(850 to 1,020 square feet) in the middle.  In all, the building would contain 15 units.  Units would 

be entered via walkways along the west and south side of the building, accessible from staircases 

at the northwest and southeast corners of the building.  Elevator access would also be provided 

at the northwest corner of the building. 

 

In addition to the three (3) levels of residential units, a basement storage room (approximately 

516 square feet in size) would be located at the northwest corner of the building.  This room would 

contain individual storage lockers for the units, as well as a bicycle rack.  Additional amenities for 

residents would include private balconies on the north side of the building (approximately 65 

square feet each) and a stackable washer/dryer in each unit. 

 

Exterior building finishes would consist of stucco, wood paneling, and concrete masonry block, in 

a range of neutral tones.  Apartment and elevator doors would be painted green for decorative 

contrast.  Full details regarding materials and colors are provided in the “Supplemental Details of 

Request” section of this report. 

 

Please note that while this project would occur on a site with CG zoning, its design and density 

are similar to developments allowed within the R-5 zone (the Very High Multiple Residential zone, 

which allows densities up to 30 units/acre).  Therefore, this report contains discussion on 

proposed site standards as well as standards applicable to the R-5 zone, for comparison 

purposes. 

 

 

 

 



PHG 17-0019 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

 

-4- 

 
 

 

3. Parking 

 

The proposed project would include an off-street parking lot on the north side of the apartment 

building.  Access to this lot would be via a 24’-wide driveway from Grand Avenue, the entrance of 

which would be located near the east property line.  The lot would contain 26 parking spaces, 

including 24 standard spaces and two (2) ADA (American Disabilities Act)-compliant spaces.  

Fifteen of these spaces (i.e., one per residential unit) would be covered, and the remaining 11 

would be uncovered.  Since the parking lot dead-ends at the west side of the property and through 

access is therefore not available for emergency vehicles or delivery/moving trucks, the parking 

lot would include one 17’-wide space at the northeast corner, to serve as a turnaround area or 

temporary parking space for these vehicles.  A condition of approval has been proposed to require 

this space to be striped or otherwise marked to prohibit permanent parking by residents or their 

guests. 

 

Per the City of Escondido Zoning Code and the East Valley Parkway Area Plan, parking 

requirements for multi-family developments generally are based on the bedroom count of the units 

within.  Each one-bedroom unit requires 1.5 spaces, each two-bedroom unit requires 1.75 spaces, 

and each three-bedroom unit requires two (2) spaces.  Additionally, guest parking is required in 

the amount of one (1) space per four (4) units or fraction thereof.  These ratios indicate that the 

proposed project should be responsible for 26 spaces for residents plus four parking spaces for 

guests, for a total of 30 spaces.  Due to constraints on the size and topography of the project site, 

the proposed Planned Development would provide only the 26 spaces needed for residents, and 

no guest parking.  Justification for this request is based on the provision of a bicycle rack within 

the building’s storage room, limited street parking on a portion Grand Avenue as well as Ohio 

Avenue, the availability of bus service on Grand Avenue, and walkability to commercial areas to 

the north and east.  A condition of approval has been proposed to ensure that future and 

prospective residents receive notification about on-site parking management.  A similar condition 

of approval had been implemented for the City Plaza project (Planning Case No. 2007-11-

PD/SP/DA, modified by PHG 07-0026) and the City has not received any substantial complaints 

about the adequacy or supply of on-site parking.   

 

4.  Grading, Retaining Walls, and Fencing 

 

The project site is located on a slope, with the highest area near the southwest corner of the site 

and the lowest area near the northeast corner of the site. To transform the site into a buildable 

pad, grading in the amount of approximately 232 cubic yards of cut and 5,067 cubic yards of fill 

would be necessary.  Approximately 4,835 cubic yards of fill would be imported to the site. 

 

Two (2) retaining walls have been incorporated into the project design. The first is an earthen 

retaining wall along the east and north property lines and a portion of the west property line 

(maximum height of 22.5 feet), associated with a grading fill.  The fill material to be retained behind 

this wall would be reinforced with geogrid mesh (to be placed under the parking lot and behind 

the wall and therefore fully concealed) for additional stability. This wall would incorporate planter 



PHG 17-0019 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

 

-5- 

 
 

 

blocks along its face, to be planted with creeping fig vines or similar, to soften its appearance for 

viewers to the north, east, and west.  Additional vines (purple vine lilac or similar) would be planted 

at the base of the wall and trained to climb the wall for enhanced concealment.  A traffic-rated 

guard rail at the top of the wall would prevent vehicles from driving off the edge of the parking lot, 

and an additional post and rail fence (to the outside of the guard rail) would also be installed at 

the top of the wall for pedestrian safety.    

 

The City’s Grading Ordinance requires approval of a Grading Exemption for any fill slope over ten 

(10) feet in height within fifty (50) feet of a property line.  The fill to be retained by this earthen wall 

falls into this category, and therefore is subject to Grading Exemption approval.   

 

The second retaining wall proposed for the site is a CMU retaining wall at the base of the 

apartment building’s west and south elevations (maximum height of 11.5 feet).  This wall is 

associated with a grading cut at this corner of the property. 

 

In addition to these retaining walls, the applicant has proposed to retain an existing chain link 

fence that runs along the east and north property lines, continuing westward onto neighboring 

properties.  On the east side of the property, it sits on the property line, while on the north side, it 

is located approximately four (4) feet inside the property.  A condition of approval has been 

proposed to replace this fence with one made of solid wood or similar materials, to the satisfaction 

of the Planning Division. 

 

5.  Open Space and Resident Amenities 

 

Zoning Code Section 33-108 defines “usable open space” as any open area designed and 

intended to be used for outdoor living, landscaping, and or recreation, which does not exceed a 

grade of ten (10) percent, and has a minimum dimension of at least ten (10) feet.  Developments 

in the R-5 zone are required to provide 200 square feet of usable open space for each unit, plus 

an additional 200 square feet per unit for each bedroom over one in said unit.  Balconies may 

count toward up to one-half (1/2) of this requirement for each unit, provided they have a minimum 

dimension of not less than five (5) feet and a minimum area of not less than fifty (50) square feet.   

 

If the proposed project were located in the R-5 zone, it would be required to provide 6,000 square 

feet of open space.  The small size of the project site hinders the provision of this much open 

space, so the project as proposed would provide approximately 2,306 square feet, including 

landscaped areas, walkways, and private balconies.   

 

Zoning Code Section 33-108 also requires multi-family developments to provide private storage 

of at least eighty (80) cubic yards per unit, above and beyond the usual cabinets and closets 

expected for a residence.  The proposed project would provide individual storage lockers meeting 

or exceeding this standard within the basement storage room.   

 



PHG 17-0019 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

 

-6- 

 
 

 

Finally, the project proposes to provide each unit with its own stacking washer/dryer, located 

inside the unit.  The Zoning Code does not require in-unit laundry for rental apartments in any of 

the multi-family residential zones, so this amenity would exceed R-5 standards. 

 

6.  Storm Water Facilities 

 

The applicant has been working with the City’s Engineering Services Department and 

Environmental Programs Division to ensure that the proposed project will comply with City storm 

water regulations and State water quality requirements.  Due to space constraints, a modular 

wetland system would be installed underneath the parking lot as an alternative to a traditional 

biofiltration basin.  A 6” PVC outlet drain would convey runoff from this modular system to an 

existing concrete brow ditch running along the north property line, which would then carry it off-

property in an easterly direction.   

 

7. Supplemental Details of Request 
 
While this project would occur on a site with CG zoning, its design and density are comparable to 

what would be found on a property zoned R-5 (the Very High Multiple Residential zone, which 

allows densities up to 30 units/acre).  Therefore, this section compares proposed site standards 

with standards applicable to the R-5 zone. 

 

1.  Property Size: 0.51 acre 
 
2.  Proposed Buildings: 18,678 SF, 3-story apartment building, with an additional storage 

room below the first residential floor.  Proposed unit configuration as 
follows: 

  1 bedroom/1 bath, 700 SF (1 per floor; 3 total) 
  2 bedroom/2 bath, 850 SF (1 per floor; 3 total) 
  2 bedroom/2 bath, 1,020 SF (2 per floor; 6 total) 
  3 bedroom/2 bath, 1,150 SF (1 per floor; 3 total) 
  Total units in building:  15 (5 per floor) 
 
3.  Setbacks: Proposed:  

Front:  5’ to stairwell at southeast corner of building 
Interior side (west):  10’ to retaining wall; 15’ to side of building (Hardie 
board paneling at southwest corner of building may encroach 
approximately 6” into this setback) 
Interior side (east):  28’ to side of building 
Rear:  58’ to stairwell at northwest corner 
 
R-5: 
Front:  15’ (20’ for garages with street-facing entrances) 
Interior side:  5’ for first two stories; additional 5’ for each additional 
story (up to 15’ total) 
Rear:  10’ for first two stories; additional 5’ for each additional story  
 

 



PHG 17-0019 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

 

-7- 

 
 

 

4.  Density: Proposed: 29.4 units/acre 
  R-5:  30 units/acre maximum; 21 units/acre minimum 
 
5.  Building Height: Proposed: 43’ (3 residential floors with 1 basement storage room)  
  R-5:  75’ (4 floors maximum) 
 
6.  Floor Area Ratio: Proposed:  0.84 
  R-5:  0.9 maximum 
   
7.  Materials and Colors: Exterior walls: 
  Smooth trowel stucco in Pale Wheat, Verona Beach, Kraft Paper, 

Warm Hearth, and Cedar Chest, all shades of tan/brown by Dunn 
Edwards (primary finish for walls) 

  Hardie board (fiber cement siding) or similar, in medium/dark brown 
(accent finish for walls) 

  Concrete masonry block in gray (base of building and elevator column 
at northwest corner of building) 

 
  Accents and hardware: 
  Residential unit doors and elevator doors in Spanish Olive (deep lime 

green) by Dunn Edwards, with brushed nickel door hardware 
  Standing seam roof (at top-floor staircase/elevator landing), parapet 

caps, awnings, and window frames in anodized dark bronze 
  Brushed nickel handrails for staircases and balcony railings 
 
  Trash enclosure: 
  Concrete masonry block in gray (to match apartment building) 
  Swinging metal doors 
  Standing seam roof in anodized bronze (to match apartment building) 
   
8.  Parking: Proposed: 
   26 parking spaces to be provided (24 standard; 2 ADA) 
   15 of these spaces to have carport covering; 11 to be uncovered 
    
   R-5: 
   1-bedroom units:  1.5 parking spaces per unit x 3 units = 4.5 spaces 
   2-bedroom units: 1.75 parking spaces per unit x 9 units = 15.75 

spaces 
   3-bedroom units:  2 parking spaces per unit x 3 units = 6 spaces 
   At least one space per unit must be covered 
   Guest parking:  1 space per 4 units or fraction thereof 
   Total requirement:  30 spaces 
   
9.  Fencing/Screening: New CMU retaining wall at base of apartment building (height up to 

11.5’) 
  New earthen retaining wall along west, north, and east property lines, 

with plantable blocks (height up to 22.5’) 
  New traffic-rated guard rail and post and rail fence at north edge of 

parking lot 



PHG 17-0019 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

 

-8- 

 
 

 

  Existing chain link fence along north and east property lines, to 
remain 

     
10.  Signage: One monument sign at driveway entrance, approximately 7’ high at 

tallest point and 10’ wide, in materials to match building (Hardie board 
face with concrete or CMU base).  A separate sign permit would be 
required. 

 
11.  Open Space: Proposed: 2,306 SF of “usable open space” (as defined in Section 

33-108 of Zoning Code), consisting of private balconies, landscaping, 
and walkways. 

  R-5:  200 SF required for each 1-bedroom unit, 400 SF for each 2-
bedroom unit, and 600 SF for each 3-bedroom unit, for a total of 6,000 
SF required 

 
12.  Additional Amenities:   One storage locker per unit, located in basement-level storage room 

(80 cubic yards minimum per locker; this matches R-5 requirements 
for “private storage area”)  

  Bicycle rack in storage room (no R-5 requirement for bicycle parking) 
  Stacking washer/dryer in each unit (no R-5 requirement for in-unit 

laundry) 
 

B. ENVIRONMENTAL STATUS: 

 

The proposed project is categorically exempt from environmental review in conformance with 

CEQA Section 15332, “In-Fill Development Projects.”  CEQA provides an exemption for in-fill 

projects meeting the following criteria:   

 

a) The project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and all applicable general 

plan policies as well as with the applicable zoning designation and regulations; 

b) The proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no more than five acres 

substantially surrounded by urban uses; 

c) The project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare, or threatened species; 

d) Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, noise, air 

quality, or water quality; and 

e) The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 

 

The project is consistent with the General Plan and Zoning Code as described in Section B.1, 

above.  Additionally, the project site exists within city limits, does not exceed five acres, and is 

substantially surrounded by urban uses; has no value as wildlife habitat; and can be served by all 

required utilities and public services (as shown on the project site plan and/or conditioned).  In 

staff’s opinion, the proposed project would not have a significant impact to the environment.  All 

project related issues remain resolved through compliance with code requirements, project 

design, and the recommended conditions of approval. 

 

 



PHG 17-0019 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

 

-9- 

 
 

 

C. CONCLUSIONS: 

 

The City Council is the authorized agency for granting discretionary approvals related to Master 

Development Plans.  Since the applicant has submitted requests for a Precise Development Plan 

and Grading Exemption along with their application for a Master Development Plan, the City 

Council will consider those additional requests along with the Master Development Plan.  The 

Planning Commission is being asked to review all project components and consider whether to 

recommend approval of the project to City Council.  No other discretionary permits are requested 

or required for the proposed scope of work. 

 

The proposed project is consistent with the General Plan and development standards proposed 

under the Master and Precise Development Plan are substantially comparable to those applicable 

to the R-5 (Very High Multiple Residential) zone.  The project as proposed will not have a 

significant effect on the environment, as designed and conditioned.  The location, size, design, 

and operating characteristics of the proposed project will not be incompatible with or will adversely 

affect or will be materially detrimental to adjacent land uses.  The site is suitable for the type and 

intensity of use or development which is proposed.  Staff recommends that the Planning 

Commission recommend approval of Planning Case No. PHG 17-0019 based upon the 

factors/findings and conditions contained in the attached Planning Commission Resolution No. 

2019-03 (Attachments 2 and 3). 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 

1. Location and General Plan Map 

2. Draft Planning Commission Resolution No. 2019-03 













































































 

 

 
 
Agenda Item No.: G.3 
Date:  February 12, 2019 

 
 
 

 

PROJECT NUMBER / NAME:  AZ 19-0001 / Wireless Communication Facilities Regulations  

 

REQUEST:  A proposed amendment to Article 34 (Communication Antennas Ordinance) of the Escondido 

Zoning Code to update the requirements for wireless communication facilities within the right-of-way. The 

amendment includes an update to the entitlement process to streamline deployment of 5G networks and 

simplified language to be consistent with Federal Communications Commission Order. The proposal also 

contemplated new guidelines for wireless communications facilities in the public right-of-way which will be 

brought forth at a future date, as well as the environmental determination prepared for the project. No 

development project is proposed. 

 

 

LOCATION: Citywide 

 

APN / APNS:  N/A 

 

GENERAL PLAN / ZONING:  N/A 

 

 

APPLICANT:  City of Escondido 

 

PRIMARY  

REPRESENTATIVE:  Planning Division 

 

 

DISCRETIONARY ACTIONS REQUESTED:  Zoning Code Amendment and adoption of 

Guidelines 

 

PREVIOUS ACTIONS:          Planning Case No. AZ 19-0001  

 

PROJECT PLANNER:          Adam Finestone, Principal Planner 

 afinestone@escondido.org  

 

CEQA RECOMMENDATION:  Exempt (CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3)).   

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Provide a recommendation to City Council to approve the Project 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:  Approve Planning Commission Resolution No. 2019-02 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL HEARING REQUIRED:   ☒ YES     ☐ NO 

 

REPORT APPROVALS:                            ☒ Bill Martin, Community Development Director 

☒ Mike Strong, Assistant Planning Director 



AZ19-0001 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

-2- 

 

 

A. BACKGROUND: 
 

The City Council adopted Ordinance No. 2017-10R on June 21, 2017, approving an amendment 

to Article 34 (Communication Antennas Ordinance) of the Escondido Zoning Code.  The June 14, 

2017 City Council Staff Report, which introduced the ordinance for adoption, suggested 

monitoring the effectiveness of the Communications Antennas Ordinance and returning to City 

Council within two (2) years to address any modifications that may be necessary to keep up with 

the changing industry.  Furthermore, the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) also 

adopted a declaratory ruling and order on September 26, 2018 that dramatically preempts local 

authority on the siting of personal wireless communication facilities.  Among other things, the new 

rule: 1) shortens the time cities have to process applications for small communication facilities to 

either 60 days or 90 days, depending on whether they are being mounted on an existing or new 

structure; and 2) limits aesthetic review and requirements to those that are reasonable, 

comparable to requirements for other rights-of-way users, and published in advance.  The 

effective date of the new FCC rules was January 14, 2019, which didn’t give cities a great deal of 

time to respond.  The recent FCC order is provided at the link below. 

 
External link: https://docs.fcc.gov/public/attachments/FCC-18-133A1.pdf 
 
With the recent FCC order, and as cities navigate this rapidly-changing policy issue, there is an 

urgent need and responsibility to update the local regulations (contained in Article 34) and 

establish clear guidelines to plan for, develop processes around, and manage the deployment of 

small wireless facilities and the infrastructure necessary to support it throughout the city.  The 

proposed Zoning Code Amendment largely simplifies local requirements and helps ensure that 

our approach to wireless infrastructure deployment promotes buildout of the facilities needed to 

provide 5G services citywide.  The proposed Zoning Code Amendment is provided as an 

attachment to draft PC Resolution 2019-02. 

 

The draft Guidelines were originally anticipated to be presented to the Planning Commission 

along with the proposed Zoning Code Amendment.  However, staff has determined that, prior to 

presenting them to the Commission, additional revisions and refinements to the Guidelines are 

necessary based on recent conversations with wireless carriers and consultation with city staff 

from other local jurisdictions. It is anticipated that the draft Guidelines will be presented to the 

Planning Commission for consideration in March, after which time both the proposed Zoning Code 

Amendment and the draft Guidelines will be presented to City Council, likely in March or April.    

 
B. PROJECT ANALYSIS: 

 

1. General Plan / Zoning 

 

The City Council adopted Ordinance No. 2017-10R on June 21, 2017, approving an amendment 

to Article 34 (Communication Antennas Ordinance) to anticipate the demand for new wireless 

communication facilities and support some of the advantages of wireless communication including 

flexibility, constant connectivity, and enhanced efficiency.  The new FCC declaratory ruling and 



AZ19-0001 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

-3- 

 

 

report and order enacts new preemptions of local authority on wireless facility deployment and 

management of local public right-of-way.  The proposed Zoning Code Amendment and supporting 

guidelines help Escondido prepare for expanded 5G deployment, pursuant to that FCC order.   

 

The proposed Zoning Code Amendment would be consistent with the existing General Plan Goals 

and Policies to provide for quality communication systems.  The basis of establishing and 

updating, as necessary, local standards and guidelines for communication antennas within the 

public right-of-way is to ensure that residents, public safety operations, and businesses have 

reliable access to wireless telecommunications networks, while also ensuring that this objective 

is accomplished according to zoning and planning standards.  To accomplish the above stated 

objectives (and to ensure that the placement, construction or modification of wireless 

telecommunications facilities complies with all applicable Federal laws and land use policies), the 

proposed amendments to Article 34 establishes a more customer-focused government that 

delivers efficient and effective services.  The proposed Zoning Code Amendment and supporting 

Guidelines would:    

 

 Provide new definitions of different types of wireless facilities and define the standards 

and criteria for the deployment of new facilities regarding height, location, bulk and  size, 

and other characteristics of wireless communication facilities; 

 Identify preferences in design and aesthetic standards  for wireless communications 

facilities; 

 Provide new requirements that clearly identify and prioritize the types of structures on 

which a wireless communication facility may be placed; 

 Outline City requirements for a revised review process and submittal procedures for the 

various types of wireless communications facilities; 

 Revise findings for approval of wireless communication facilities; and 

 Create an administrative process for the review of a majority of wireless communication 

facilities consistent with federal laws and regulations. 

 

The proposed Zoning Code Amendment is intended to ensure that the City of Escondido 

facilitates sufficient wireless infrastructure and access to reliable wireless communications 

services throughout all areas of city.  The proposed Zoning Code Amendment represents the first 

step towards updating or local regulations to support 5G deployment.  The proposed Zoning Code 

Amendment will be supplemented with new Guidelines described above.   

 

C. ENVIRONMENTAL STATUS: 

 

The proposed project is categorically exempt from environmental review in conformance with 

CEQA Section 15061(b)(3).  The activity is covered by the general rule that exempts activities that 

can be seen with certainty to have no possibility for causing a significant effect on the environment.  

Approval of the proposed amendment to the Escondido Zoning Code would not individually or 

cumulatively result in the possibility of creating significant effects on the environment because the 

proposed amendment to the Zoning Code (Article 34) only establishes an update to established 



AZ19-0001 
February 12, 2019 

 

 

-4- 

 

 

criteria that in turn would be utilized to assess and process applications for the development of 

wireless communication facilities within the public right-of-way.  The proposed Zoning Code 

Amendment is not a “physical condition” that will impact the environment for the purposes of 

CEQA.  Therefore, the proposed Zoning Code Amendment is not subject to CEQA under the 

General Rule and no further environmental review is necessary. 

 
D. CONCLUSIONS: 

 

The Planning Commission has the authority under Section 33-1262 of Article 61 of the Escondido 

Zoning Code (Administration and Enforcement Ordinance) to review and consider amendments 

to the Zoning Code, which requires a Planning Commission recommendation to City Council.  No 

other discretionary permits are requested or required. 

 

The proposed project is consistent with the General Plan and helps position Escondido to 

establish a clear process to plan for, develop processes around, and manage the deployment of 

small wireless facilities throughout the city.   

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 

1. Draft Planning Commission Resolution No. 2019-02 








































	PA 02.12.19.pdf
	PC Minutes 11.27.18 DRAFT Minutes.pdf
	PHG 18-0026 Lexus 02.12.19 PC mtg.pdf
	PHG 17-0019 Grand Ave Apts 02.12.19 Pc mtg.pdf
	AZ 19-0001 Art. 34 WCF 02.12.19 mtg.pdf



